
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Robert Barlow 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
31 July 2020 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 10 AUGUST 2020 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a virtual meeting of the Council on Monday, 10th August, 2020 
immediately following the Extraordinary Meeting of the Council.  
 
This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronovirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England and 
Wales Regulations 2020. 
 
Members joining instructions to follow  
 

 
ROBERT BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   MINUTES                                                                                          (Pages 1 - 24) 
 

 To sign the minutes of the previous meetings held on the 10 June 2020, 25 June 
2020 and the exempt minute for the meeting held on the July 21 2020. 
(Exempt minute not issued in public pack) 
 

B.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

Public Document Pack



C.   COMMUNICATIONS  
 

D.   QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS  
 

 To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of 
the Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and 
Procedure Rules for Remote Meetings. 
Questions for Members must be received by 5pm two clear working days 
prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this is 5pm 5 August 2020. 
 

E.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

  
To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 
of the Council’s Rules of Procedure (as amended by the Protocol and 
Procedure Rules for Remote Meetings). 
Questions by members of the public must be received by 5pm two clear 
working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting 
is 5pm Wednesday 5 August 2020. 
 

F.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of any item on 
this agenda 
 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   PAVEMENT LICENSING                                                               (Pages 25 - 28) 
 

 (Report by the Licensing and Land Charges Manager) 
 

2   ACCELERATED GRANT FUND THROUGH THE TOWNS FUND (Pages 29 - 44) 
 

 (Report by the Deputy Chief Executive (Place). 
 

3   EXEMPTION  
 

 To consider resolving that under Section 100A(iv) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 and 3 of part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
 

4   SEVERANCE ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE FORMER CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
 

 (Report by the Monitoring Officer). 
 

 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  
5 p.m. on Wednesday 5 August 2020. 
 



 
 

 
Members of the public: 
 
This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and streamed live via the following link: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w 

 
Please note that if the resolution to exclude the public and press from the meeting 
is passed you will automatically be removed from viewing the meeting for the last 
item of business.  
  

 
 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCsz_igjTc1WQX-EZWY8rQ9w


This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
At the meeting of the Boston Borough Council held remotely via webinar, on Wednesday 
10 June 2020 at 6.30 p.m. 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Anton Dani) in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM,  
Peter Bedford, Alan Bell, David Brown, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, 
Viven Edge, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard,  
Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Judith Skinner,  
Paul Skinner, Aaron Spencer, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn,  
Nigel Welton, Colin Woodcock and Stephen Woodliffe. 
 
Officers - 
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance Officer, 
Democratic Services Manager, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services 
Officer, Principal IT Officer, IT Projects and Development Officer. 
 

70 MINUTES 
 

The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 2 March 2020, were taken as read 
and signed by the Mayor as a correct record.  
 

71  APOLOGIES 
 

No apologies for absence were received. 
 

72    COMMUNICATIONS  
 
There were no communications. 
 

73  QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 
 

The Chief Executive reported there were questions from Councillors Tom Ashton, 
George Cornah, Jonathan Noble, Tracey Abbott and Judith Skinner. 
 

Question asked by Councillor Tom Ashton pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 

of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Taking note of the County Council’s bid for a ‘devolution deal’ which envisages 

reorganizing the structures of local government in this County, would Councillor Welton 

update the Council on whether he would support the creation of a Boston Town Council 

in the event of such reorganization extinguishing this esteemed Borough Council?” 

Response by Councillor Nigel Welton  

“I thank Councillor Ashton for his question  
 
I wholeheartedly support the creation of a town council for Boston. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



Protection of Boston as a town is of great importance to me and I will do whatever is in 
my power to protect the future status of our town. 
 
Following the recent manoeuvres to reopen the debate on devolution in Lincolnshire our 
priority must be to protect Boston’s unique identity, history and heritage.  
 
We must all stand together to ensure Boston doesn’t become a forgotten corner of 
Lincolnshire in any future carve up of the county.” 
 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Ashton pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Would you agree to work with me to bring forward a motion to this Council, which would 

secure a Town Council and safeguard the civic privileges and property, which rightfully 

belong to the people of Boston in the event of the Council’s demise?” 

Response by Councillor Welton 

“I will work you and any other person on this planet if it means we can protect the unique 

status of our town.” 

Question asked by Councillor George Cornah pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 

Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 

“At Cabinet on 20
th

 May it was agreed that the Council would purchase or lease a 

temporary replacement cremator while seeking a long-term solution.  Could the Portfolio 

Holder reassure this Council and our residents that Boston Crematorium remains fit for 

purpose, and the measures agreed at Cabinet are sufficient to prevent a major or 

prolonged failure of this vital local service?” 

Response by Councillor Yvonne Stevens 

“May I thank Councillor Cornah for his question concerning the crematorium. 
Cabinet agreed to the purchase of a temporary cremator and I can confirm that the order 
has been placed with the supplier with delivery anticipated on 1

st
 August. The new 

cremator is a robust, efficient and modern design and will be supplied with a 
manufacturer’s warranty. The cremator will be installed immediately adjacent to the 
crematorium building, inside a weather-proof enclosure and the cremator will benefit 
from an all-inclusive maintenance contract.   
 
“Whilst we await delivery, our two existing cremators will continue to be managed as 
serviceable by the excellent team at the crematorium, as has indeed been the case 
since the previous maintenance company entered administration, albeit with necessary 
limitations being applied to capacity and concurrent use, so as to preserve our current 
operations. 
 
“Long term, Members will be aware of my ambitions to investigate a new build 
Crematorium for Boston due to the limitations of the existing site” 

 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Cornah pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 

Page 2



“I have no further question – it is reassuring to hear the crematorium is in good working 
order and servicing the needs of the people of Boston.” 

 

Question asked by Councillor Jonathan Noble pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 

Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 

 
“How much Central Government money has Boston Borough Council received to date to 
provide financial support for itself and local businesses adversely affected by the 
economic effects of the Government’s ‘lockdown’?” 
 

Response by Councillor Martin Howard 

“The Council has received £16.768m under the Small Business Grant, and Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Grants, and the more recently announced Discretionary Business 
Grant, schemes.  
 
“In addition, £9.3m has been received as a consequence of the Expanded Retail and 
other business rate reliefs that apply in 2020/21. 
 
“With regard to Government money to help with the day-to-day finances, the Council has 
received £0.7m (i.e. £750,000) from the Government in recognition of the impacts of 
Covid-19 on its finances.  This was distributed as part of two £1.6bn nationwide tranches 
announced in April and May.  Lobbying for further funding is continuing, led by the Local 
Government Association.  Cash flow monies have also been approved to support the 
Council as a consequence of other decisions and the sum of £62,811 has also been 
distributed to the Council to support the reopening of the high streets.”   
 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Noble pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Is it not seemly, fitting and appropriate that Central Government should provide financial 
support to the Council and Boston borough businesses for the economic damage 
inflicted on them as a result of the Government’s ‘lockdown’?” 
 

Response by Councillor Howard 

“Yes, I totally agree with you and, as I said earlier, lobbying is going on and we need as 
much support as we can possibly get from the Government to keep local businesses 
going, to keep the finances going and it is certainly something that I am in regular 
contact with Mr Paul Julian regarding this and, obviously, as new information comes 
through, and details, I will be the first to update you.” 

Question asked by Councillor Tracey Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11 of the Rules 

of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 
“Taking into account of the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s finances, could Councilor 
Howard give an update on the position of the Revenue and Reserves against budget, 
and the current projections over the next three months?” 

Response by Councillor Martin Howard 

  
“As reported to Cabinet on 20 May, the Council is projecting the net revenue impact of 
Covid-19 for the current year, and it is a fluid situation, to be in the region of £1.75m.  

Page 3



“The Government has provided £750,000 grant already to help support this reduction, 
but obviously this is not enough and lobbying continues for further monies to close the 
remaining projected gap.  

“To date, the complete closure of the Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre, the cessation of 
charging for car parks and reduced volumes elsewhere has reduced expected income 
significantly, by approximately £500,000.  

“Assuming that there is no return to full lockdown, and that social distancing measures 
mean that capacities are revised downwards, a further reduction against budget of 
£500,000 is estimated over the next three months.  

“Regular reports will be presented to members through the year to update the position 
both in respect of projected losses and further Government responses. 

“Regarding Revenue and Reserves against budget for the next three months, the 
situation is very fluid, and until we come out of Covid-19 with all the facts and figures it is 
impossible really to give an accurate forecast of this.   

“I would just like to add that it is going to be extremely difficult to balance our budget and 
provide existing services to our public over the coming months and years due to the 
current situation.  It would be remiss of me to try and guess and estimate Revenue and 
Reserves against budget in the current situation and give figures because it is so fluid at 
the moment.  All I can really do is state that as soon as I get the information and any 
more details I will report back to all members.” 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Abbott pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 

 
“On these figures, in your assessment, how many years has this Council got before it 
cannot balance the budget without running down reserves or cutting frontline services?” 

 

Response by Councillor Howard 

 
“My answer is similar to my answer about Revenue and Reserves.  It is difficult to predict 
anything going forward at the moment. The only thing I do have confidence in is our 
S151 Officer, Mr Paul Julian, and his team; they have a proven track-record in balancing 
budgets, particularly in austerity.  My own belief is that we are in for a very severe 
recession, but, again, I can’t give you an exact answer as to how many years we can 
carry on balancing the budget, it is such a fluid situation, but I will take your question 
further and forward to Mr Julian and attempt to get some sort of indication.  None have 
us has ever experienced this before, we are not the only council in this situation, it is 
every council across the country.  Again, when we get some figures that we can 
confidently predict, I will come back to all members.” 

 

Question asked by Councillor Judith Skinner pursuant to paragraph 11 of the 

Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 

 
“Would the Leader agree with me that our staff have been brilliant at swopping roles to 
help as we face the trials of Covid-19.  Will he join me in thanking them all for 
maintaining our essential services at this time.” 

 

Response by the Leader 

 

Page 4



“Recent times have tested all of us. I am proud of Boston Borough Council staff, they 
have risen to the challenge, worked from home to continue our services, trained on other 
jobs to fill those essential roles left vacant by those that are shielding or live with those 
shielding. Our leisure services have gone beyond developing on-line classes to help the 
health and wellbeing of all.  A big thank you to all.” 

 

Supplemental question asked by Councillor Skinner pursuant to paragraph 11.6 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Would the Leader also agree that this shows how versatile our staff are and that they 
will be able to step up to face any proposed changes in the future?” 
 

Response by the Leader 
 
“Yes, I am sure they will. They have done very well in response to the recent test.  In 
fact, I am sure they have the skills and enthusiasm to take us on in any challenge we 
present.” 
 

74  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

Question asked by Mr Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules of 

Procedure as set out in the Constitution.  In accordance with the rules for remote 

meetings, this was read out by the Mayor. 

 
“At a time when you are trying to save any penny you can combined with warnings from 
local water authorities that hose pipe bans and restrictions will soon be imposed how can 
you and the Council justify the watering of football pitches that have not been used since 
December for the last six weeks at a cost of approximately £1.50 per hour. And by my 
rough calculations around a total of £1400.” 
 

Response by Councillor Martin Howard 
 
“The annual licence fee paid by each of the two clubs that are licensed by the Council to 
use Garfits Playing Field are deemed to include the cost of utilities, such as water. The 
utilities charge for water usage for the site for 2019/20 was £457.58. If and when water 
restrictions are imposed by the water company, the clubs will be responsible for abiding 
by the restrictions.” 
 

Supplemental question asked by Mr Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 10.8 of 

the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“Is this expenditure justified, please could you just answer yes or no?” 
 

Response by the Councillor Howard 
 
“No, we cannot justify this spend.  It is something that I am looking at it very closely.  I 
have actually asked for meter readings to be taken so we can confirm the cost of the 
water that has been used against last year’s and then we can take action regarding that. 
We need to do some investigations to find out what the cost is.” 
 
 
 

Page 5



75  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Councillor Tom Ashton declared that, with respect to the item on the Boston Borough 
Council and East Lindsey District Council Strategic Alliance that he was a Member of 
East Lindsey District Council.  However, he had sought advice from the Monitoring 
Officer in respect of this item and could confirm that, as he approached this issue as a 
Member of Boston Borough Council and his mind was entirely on what was best of 
Boston Borough Council, he was able to take part in this item and take part in the debate 
and vote.   
 
In response to a Member’s questions, the Monitoring Officer confirmed that Councillor 
Ashton did not have two votes on the matter.  He was attending the Boston Borough 
Council meeting, not the East Lindsey meeting.  East Lindsey District Council was 
meeting simultaneously with Boston Borough Council; therefore Councillor Ashton was 
only exercising one vote on this item.   
 
The Chief Executive declared that he and the other two Statutory Officers, the 
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, had an interest in the report, Boston Borough 
Council and East Lindsey District Council Strategic Alliance, as it affected their 
employment.  They all confirmed that they had not provided any professional advice to 
the Council in respect of the matters contained within the report and they would leave 
the meeting prior to that item’s consideration.   
 

76  AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES 
 

Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced the confirmed minutes of the Audit and 
Governance Committee held on 27 January 2020, highlighting the key matters 
considered by the Committee.   

 

It was moved by Councillor Jonathan Noble and seconded by Councillor Tom 

Ashton and  
 

 

RESOLVED that the confirmed minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee 

held on 27 January 2020 be received.   

 

 

77  ANNUAL MEETING 2020/21 
 

The Chief Executive presented a report seeking consideration of not holding an Annual 
General Meeting in the municipal year 2020/21 in accordance with the provisions of the 
Local Authorities Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
and Crime Panel Meetings) (England and Wales) Regulations 2020.  
 
The report stated that the Regulations applied to local authority meetings that were 
required to be held, or held, before 7 May 20201, and drafted to enable local authorities 
to properly function during the coronavirus crisis. 
 
The Local Government Act 1972 required local authorities to hold their AGM’s in either 
March, April or May of each year.  Part 6 of the Regulations enabled authorities to dis-
apply that requirement which meant that the Council had no obligation to hold an AGM 
until May 2021. 

Page 6



 
It was not considered feasible, or entirely fair to the incoming Mayor, to hold the AGM 
remotely as it was a ceremonial meeting involving a number of persons required to be in 
close contact.  
 
Similarly, holding the meeting date in abeyance until the crisis was over was not 
considered to be an ideal arrangement as the incoming Mayor’s year of office would be 
considerably shorter than expected and, due to Covvid-19 restrictions, it was unlikely 
that he would be able to undertake the expected range of duties and attendance at 
events.  
 
The incoming Mayor had confirmed his agreement to defer his Mayoralty for one year 
and the current Mayor’s appointment would continue until May 2021. 
 
The report also proposed to review the appointments of Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and 
constitution of committees in September 2020. 
 

It was proposed by Councillor Paul Skinner, and seconded by Councillor Nigel 

Welton  
 

1. That the Council determines not to hold the Annual General Meeting in the 

municipal year 202/21 and for the Mayor to continue in office until the AGM May 

2021. 

2. That all current appointments of Chairmen and constitution of Committees be 

reviewed in September 2020.  
 
Members expressed sympathy for the existing Mayor and the Mayor Elect for the 
interruption of their tenure of office. However, there was a difference of opinion as to 
whether the AGM should be delayed until May 2021. 
 
There was a view that there was no reason to defer the AGM and that it should be held 
in September, at the same time that the current appointments of Chairmen and 
constitution of committees were to be reviewed. Other larger authorities had managed to 
continue to hold their AGMs as normal and the technology to hold meetings virtually was 
working well. 
 
However, there was another view that a virtual meeting would not be appropriate to the 
dignity of the installation of the new Mayor, who would then have a short term of office, 
and that it would be both safer and fairer to delay the AGM until May 2021. 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by Councillor Neill 
Hastie, that the Mayor and Deputy Mayor redirect the Mayoral Allowances for 2020/21 to 
the Mayor’s nominated charities.  
 
However, it was explained that this was not an amendment pursuant to paragraph 17.6 
of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution.   
 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 

Councillor Neill Hastie:-  
 

1. That the Council determines not to hold the Annual General Meeting in the 

municipal year 202/21 and for the Mayor to continue in office until the AGM 

Page 7



May 2021, and that the Mayor and Deputy Mayor redirect their Mayoral 

Allowances for 2020/21 to the Mayor’s nominated charities.  

 

2. That all current appointments of Chairmen and constitution of Committees 

be reviewed in September 2020.  
 
However, the Mayor then explained that the unspent money from the 2019/20 Mayoral 
budget had been returned to the Council’s funds and the same would happen in the 
current year. 
 
The proposer and seconder then withdrew the amendment, though it was requested that 
unspent monies be diverted to the Mayor’s charity instead of the Council’s funds in 
future. 
 

The substantive motion was then put to the vote and 
 

 

RESOLVED  

 

1. That the Council’s Annual General Meeting not be held in the municipal year 

2020/21 and the Mayor to continue in office until the AGM May 2021. 

 

2. That all current appointments of Chairmen and constitution of Committees be 

reviewed in September 2020. 

 

 

78  EXTENSION OF SIX MONTH ATTENDANCE RULE 
 

The Monitoring Officer presented a report, which asked Members to consider the 
granting of an extension to the six-month attendance rule to prevent Councillors ceasing 
to be a Member of the authority under section 85 at the Local Government Act 1972. 
The rule meant that a Member who had not attended a meeting for a six-month 
consecutive period was disqualified from holding office as a Member of the Council.  
 
An extension of three months would prevent any Member losing their seat through failure 
to attend a meeting because of the coronavirus pandemic. This would extend the 
attendance rule to nine months, with any further requests for dispensation to be 
delegated to the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Group Leaders.   
 
Members commented that virtual meetings had proved to be easily accessible, even 
allowing Members to participate by telephone, therefore there was no need for a three-
month extension.  
 

It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 

and  

 

 

RESOLVED  

 

Page 8



1. That a dispensation be approved for all Members to agree an extension to the 

six-month attendance rule in accordance with Section 85 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 

2. That any requested dispensations be discussed by the Group Leaders in 

consultation with the Monitoring Officer to make full use of the usual 

procedures for considering an extension in advance of the expiry period 

contained within Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972.   

 

 
[The three Statutory Officers left the meeting at this point and a short comfort break 
followed.] 
 

It was then moved by the Mayor, seconded by Councillor Anne Dorrian and 

 

 

RESOLVED that the meeting continue beyond three hours in accordance with 

paragraph 9 of the Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution. 
 

 
 

79  BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL AND EAST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE 
 

Councillor Nigel Welton presented a report, which set out the case for the creation of a 
strategic alliance between Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey district Council, 
including the sharing of statutory officers, the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer, and set out the substantial benefits that would accrue from an 
alliance.  
 
Each council would retain its distinct and special identity, decision-making powers and 
accountability.  The talent and experience of each authority’s officers would be combined 
to build capacity and deploy resources necessary to transform service quality across the 
board.  
 
The goal was to deliver better outcomes for local people at a significantly lower cost than 
that which could be achieved if the authorities were to continue to operate separately.  
Joint working on the planning and delivery of services would also mitigate pressure on 
the Council’s budgets and command greater influence in the allocation of resources from 
Central Government, the Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership and others.  
 
Joint working would also give the councils a stronger voice in any process to reshape 
local government in Lincolnshire, promoting a common agenda with a single voice. They 
would gain experience of managing strategic change quickly and effectively and there 
could also be a longer term possibility for the strategic alliance to grow in numbers, 
giving rise to promote a significant part of Lincolnshire, should the future bring 
consideration of alternative structures. 
 
Both councils had a relatively small officer corps with limited revenue and capital 
resources to tackle the multitude of challenges each faced.  The financial pressures 
facing local government were significant, with cuts in Central Government Grants and 

Page 9



limited opportunities to offset pressures, combined with increased demands for key 
services.  This pressure was likely to become more acute in the short-term due to the 
loss of revenue and additional unplanned expenditure caused by the need to tackle the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
One of the consequences of the financial structure imposed on councils was the 
pressure from Government to scale up by adopting countywide unitary and mayoral 
structures.  Past experience in Lincolnshire suggested this would be difficult to achieve, 
and a better approach would be to build alliances from the ‘bottom up’. This would allow 
resources to be shared quickly and effectively, reducing pressure on budgets, and giving 
those partners a stronger voice in the allocation of scarce resources from central 
government and the shaping of new unitary structures. 
 
The proposal was set out clearly within the report and the details of how it would work 
were set out in the memorandum of understanding.  The proposals had been subject to 
in-depth discussions in which Councillor Welton had been involved since May 2019.  
The Leader and Deputy Leader of both authorities had met to discuss the finer points of 
the proposal and draft the report, which had been extensively amended to suit both 
authorities. 
 
The finances of the proposal were set out in the appendix, indicating prudent figures of 
year-on-year savings. There was total confidence that exit costs would be contained 
within the figures given. Independent financial advice and independent legal advice had 
been sought and were set out in the appendices. 
 
The proposed alliance sought to protect the town, its funds, heritage, history and future.  
The final shape of joint working and the pace of service transformation would be subject 
to agreement by both councils.  Members were invited to agree that the transformation 
should begin now, with the establishment of a Joint Statutory Officer team to advise and 
assist both authorities on how to ‘kick start’ change and merge workforces.  
 

It was moved by Councillor Nigel Welton and seconded by Councillor Paul 

Skinner:- 

 

(1) To agree to enter into a Strategic Alliance for the purposes set out in 

Section [1.12] of this report, effective from 1
st

 July 2020, for the purposes 

and under the terms described in this report and set out more particularly in 

the draft Memorandum of Agreement attached to it.  

 

(2)     That the Strategic Alliance will be supported by a single merged workforce. 

This will be overseen and implemented by the Joint Chief Executive/Head of 

Paid Service. 

 

(3)  That the savings of £15.4m (BBC £5.1M, ELDC £10.3M) identified in the 

Financial Business Case are built into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

(4) That Robert Barlow becomes Joint Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service of 

East Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council.  East Lindsey 

District Council shall formally employ Mr Barlow, who shall, for the purpose 

of facilitating the Strategic Alliance, be seconded to Boston Borough 

Council as Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service under Section 113 of 

the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 1
st

 July 2020. 

Page 10



 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the 

cost of Mr Barlow’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will 

contribute 33 per cent of the same. Consultation should commence 

immediately. 

 

(5) That Michelle Sacks becomes Joint Monitoring Officer of East Lindsey 

District Council and Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council 

shall formally employ Ms Sacks, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the 

Strategic Alliance, be seconded to East Lindsey District Council as 

Monitoring Officer under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, 

effective from 1
st

 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the 

cost of Ms Sack’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 

33 per cent of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 

(6)  That Paul Julian becomes Joint S151 Officer of East Lindsey District 

Council and Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council shall 

formally employ Mr Julian, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the 

Strategic Alliance, be seconded to East Lindsey District Council as S151 

Officer under Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 

1
st

 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the 

cost of Mr Julian’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will 

contribute 33 per cent of the same. Consultation should commence 

immediately. 

 

(7) That Michelle Sacks be appointed as Returning Officer and Electoral 

Registration Officer for Boston Borough Council.  

 

(8) That the exit costs are charged to the reorganisation budget shown in the 

financial business case. The costs of the departing Statutory Officers shall 

be met by both authorities.  East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 

per cent of the cost. Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent.  

These exit costs will be recovered quickly from savings achieved through 

the operation of the Strategic Alliance and as modelled in the Financial 

Business Plan. Consultation with both Officers should commence 

immediately to start redundancy proceedings. 

  
Councillor Skinner commented that these were uncertain times and the proposal would 
maximise the Council’s opportunities. All legal and due diligence processes had been 
followed confirming that the proposal was deliverable. Some details could not be shared 
at this stage due to employment law and it was inappropriate for them to be requested. 
 
Councillor Richard Austin commented that the Council had been co-operating with other 
local authorities for years and there was merit in the proposal. However, the proposal 
had been announced suddenly and with little time in order to consider what was a 
historic decision.  
 
There needed to be proper consultation and all Councillors should be given time to 
consider the arrangements to ensure their soundness. In addition, Members needed to 

Page 11



be provided with details of the costs of outgoing Statutory Officers and the opportunity to 
interview the proposed Joint Chief Executive. 
 
In conclusion, Councillor Austin stated that Members needed to identify the best alliance 
for the Council, which he felt would be with South Holland District Council in terms of its 
geography, history, population and size. The proposal should not be progressed at this 
stage, further options should be explored with Scrutiny Members involved and all 
Councillors and residents should be consulted. 
 
The Leader asserted that delaying the proposal for six months would prolong uncertainty 
for staff. 
 
During debate, the following comments were made:- 
 
Key concerns included the excessive speed of the process and lack of consultation.  The 
Council was not at a crisis point; it was well-run, had adequate resources and would be 
recompensed by the Government for losses caused by the lockdown.  Other authorities 
had allowed a longer period for proposals to be considered; a three-week consultation 
period was not sufficient.  Elsewhere, auditors had stated that ambitious proposals had 
to be adequately planned and resourced especially when driven by a date.  The alliance 
of Broadland and South Norfolk Councils had been based on a feasibility study, with full 
details of the proposal enabling Members to make a well-informed decision.  
 
The proposals had not been formulated openly; opposition Members should have been 
involved in the process. Unions should have been consulted; staff deserved to have their 
rights considered.  There would be advantages to the alliance, but full details should be 
provided.  There should be a six-month process with all Members involved, allowing 
them to take ownership of it, which was the only way to succeed. 
 
The proper scrutiny process should be followed and all potential partners assessed.  The 
proposal need a balanced assessment, which meant considering the negatives as well 
as the positives. The proposal had been written exclusively by East Lindsey. 
 
With respect to the proposed financial business case, there was doubt that the proposed 
amount of savings would be achieved, as the figures were not borne out by the business 
case.  It was accepted that the Council needed to make significant savings; however, the 
amount of savings proposed would mean job losses, possibly 36 full-time positions.  The 
report did not rule out compulsory redundancies and lower-graded officers could be 
affected.  The size of the pension contributions and the cost of outgoing officers were 
significant concerns. 
 
There were also concerns regarding the proposed secondment of East Lindsey’s Chief 
Executive to the position of Joint Chief Executive.  Councillors could not appoint a Joint 
Chief Executive without knowing the officer concerned.  The position of Joint Chief 
Executive needed to be subject of a national recruitment campaign in order to secure the 
highest quality candidate.  Broadland and South Norfolk Councils had appointed the 
managing director through open competition. 
 
Further concerns included foreseeing problems with the proposed agreement, 
particularly with respect to the resolution of disputes and the powers of the Joint Chief 
Executive, and a perceived loss of status for the borough. 
 

Page 12



The proposal was to share costs and savings in a 33/67% proportion; however, this 
meant that the Council might have to run on a 33% share of officers’ time. 
 
When bidding for infrastructure funding, it was unclear what they would bid for, as 
Boston needed a bypass, and in terms of flood defences, Boston’s was nearly 
completed and funded. 
 
In response to a question, Councillor Welton confirmed that if Members were not 
satisfied with the performance of the Joint Chief Executive, or there was a dispute within 
the alliance, the partnership could be dissolved within 12 months. Any disputes with 
respect to Statutory Officers could be dealt with Joint Board or the Joint Officer Appeals 
Panel. In addition, there was legislation relating to performance management and 
councils had authority to dismiss officers if there were legal and justifiable causes. 

 
In response the following comments were made:- 
 
The delay of six months would put an end to the proposal or at least cause six months of 
uncertainty for staff; it was imperative to proceed.  East Lindsey District Council might 
withdraw and others may not wish to work with the Council.  
 
The process had been followed by many other authorities and examined and was not 
something new and unknown. If the Council had taken such a decision when there was 
opportunity 13 years previously, the Council could have benefited from significant 
savings and improvements. 
 
This was an extremely important decision and all Members needed to be comfortable 
that they were making the right one.  However, Group Leaders had been informed about 
briefings for Members to receive the details of the proposal and they should have 
ensured this message was passed on. It was normal practice for negotiations to be held 
at the level of Leader and Deputy Leader.  The correct process had been followed; it 
was for the Scrutiny Chairman to call a scrutiny meeting and the Leader had welcomed 
the Chairman’s call for a scrutiny meeting. This was a proposal; if it was approved there 
would be further negotiations and all Members would be involved. 
 
If the statutory officer positions were taken to open tender it could significantly increase 
redundancy costs.  East Lindsey had recruited its Chief Executive 12 months previously 
and had secured the best candidate. 
 
The proposal would provide capacity in order to be in a better position to provide 
essential services. The peer review had highlighted the Council’s limited capacity and 
the alliance would remedy that.  
 
Members had been assured that the figures in the report were accurate. The Council 
had had to carry out services with ever-decreasing budgets due to the savings that had 
to be achieved. If a decision was not made within three years the Council’s reserves 
would be diminished and frontline services would be cut. 

 
In summing up, Councillor Welton urged Members who believed in the alliance in 
principle to vote for the substantive motion, as the amendment would spell the end for 
the alliance. 
 

 

Page 13



An amendment was moved by Councillor Stephen Woodliffe and seconded by 

Councillor Richard Austin:- 

 

To agree to begin a six-month consultation period on the strategic alliance with 

East Lindsey District Council for the purposes set out in the report involving 

Members, staff, scrutiny and all appropriate bodies and that there be no staff 

appointments until approved by full Council. 

 

On being put to the vote the amendment was lost on the Mayor’s casting vote.  

(14 in favour, 14 against and 1 abstention.) 
 

A further amendment was moved by Councillor Paul Goodale and seconded by 

Councillor Alan Bell that:-  

 

That recommendation 4 be amended to make the appointment of the Joint Chief 

Executive an interim appointment so that Mr Barlow would be employed for 12 

months, i.e. until July 2021, in order that Members would have the opportunity to 

review his performance. 
 

On being put to the vote the amendment was lost.  
 
It was then asserted that Councillor Edge had been unable to place her vote on the first 
amendment due to technical difficulties and that the vote should be re-taken, particularly 
as it had fallen on the Mayor’s casting vote. However, the Deputy Monitoring Officer 
confirmed that the vote could not be re-taken. 
 

A further amendment was proposed by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 

Councillor Michael Cooper:  

 

To agree to begin a seven-month consultation period on the strategic alliance with 

East Lindsey District Council for the purposes set out in the report involving 

Members, staff, scrutiny and all appropriate bodies and that there be no staff 

appointments until approved by full Council. 

 

On being put to the vote the amendment was carried by 15 votes to 14 with 1 

abstention, and became the substantive motion.  
 

However, before the substantive motion was put to the vote, Councillor Welton 

asked that the item be withdrawn. In accordance with the provisions of the 

constitution, and with the consent of the Proposer, Seconder and of the meeting 

the item was withdrawn.  

 
The meeting closed at 11:15 pm. 

Page 14



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
At the meeting of the Boston Borough Council held remotely via webinar, on Thursday 
25 June 2020 at 6.30 p.m. 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Anton Dani) in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM,  
Peter Bedford, Alan Bell, David Brown, Michael Cooper, George Cornah, Anne Dorrian, 
Viven Edge, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Martin Howard,  
Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian Rush, Chelcei Sharman, Judith Skinner,  
Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn,  
Nigel Welton, Colin Woodcock and Stephen Woodliffe. 
 
Officers - 
External Deputy Monitoring Officer, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Democratic 
Services Officer, Principal IT Officer, IT Projects and Development Officer. 
 
In attendance: Mr Tim Leader, Executive Director for East Lindsey District Council 
 
The Mayor introduced Mr Jonathan Goolden, who had been appointed as an external 
Deputy Monitoring Officer to provide Constitutional advice for the meeting, and Mr Tim 
Leader, Executive Director for East Lindsey District Council, who would provide support 
to the matter under discussion, if required. 
 

80 APOLOGIES 
 

No apologies for absence were received.  Councillor Aaron Spencer was absent. 
 

81  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
Councillor David Brown declared an interest with respect to the agenda item in that when 
the proposal had first appeared on Facebook he had indicated that he liked it.  However, 
he confirmed he had read all the papers and joined the meeting with an open mind. 
 
Councillor Tom Ashton declared that he was an Elected Member of East Lindsey District 
Council and had taken advice from the Monitoring Officer in respect of the agenda item.  
He confirmed that he was appearing in the meeting as a Boston Borough Councillor and 
as the Ward Member for Old Leake and Wrangle, he would make a decision on the item 
as a Boston Borough Councillor and confirmed that Boston Borough Council was entirely 
on his mind. 
 
The three Statutory Officers, the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Section 151 
Officer, declared an interest in the agenda item, as it affected their employment, and all 
confirmed that they had not provided any professional advice to the Council in respect of 
the matters contained within the report.  Having declared their interest in advance, the 
Officers were not in attendance at the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



82  BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL AND EAST LINDSEY DISTRICT COUNCIL 

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE 
 

Councillor Nigel Welton presented a report, which set out the case for the creation of a 
Strategic Alliance between Boston Borough Council and East Lindsey District Council 
(ELDC), including the sharing of statutory officers, the Chief Executive, Monitoring 
Officer and Section 151 Officer, and outlined the substantial benefits that would accrue 
from an alliance.  
 
The report had been presented at the meeting of Full Council held on 10 June 2020 
when some Members had expressed concern regarding the pace at which it was 
proposed to enter into the Strategic Alliance with ELDC and the need for scrutiny of the 
implementation of the proposals, at least until Members had gained experience of, and 
confidence in, the new joint officer leadership team. The Deputy Leader recognised the 
force of those concerns, and therefore withdrew the report.   
 
Subsequently, consultation with Members from outside the administration indicated that 
the proposal could be made acceptable by incorporating an amendment to the 
Memorandum of Agreement, which would provide Boston Borough Council (but not 
ELDC) with the option of ending the alliance after 12 months and by devising a scrutiny 
process to run alongside the implementation of the arrangement to inform any such 
decision.  
 
Those arrangements were set out in two additional recommendations, numbers (9) and 
(10). ELDC had confirmed it would be content to proceed on the basis of the 
recommendations in the report. The Council was now invited to agree to enter into the 
alliance on those amended terms for the reasons that were set out in the report and the 
original report. 
 
Councillor Welton explained that a third scrutiny committee was proposed in order to 
provide overarching scrutiny of the alliance process. It would provide robust, transparent 
in-depth scrutiny that would not be possible with the existing scrutiny committees. All 
political groups would be represented on the committee and its recommendations would 
go to the Joint Scrutiny Board and Full Council. 
 
At the previous meeting of the Council there had been extensive discussion on delaying 
the alliance for 6-7 month and, for this reason, the recommendation had been added to 
provide the Council with the ability to terminate the alliance by giving three months’ 
notice without penalty, if Members decided it would not be in the Council’s interest to 
proceed.  
 
If agreed, the initial task in the process would be the review of senior management with 
recommendations to the Joint Scrutiny Board and Full Council followed by consideration 
of the next level of staffing. The Joint Board would consult with the Council’s 
Management Scrutiny Committee with clear instructions at each stage. 
 
In conclusion, Councillor Welton stated that the proposal was based on a well-proven 
model and was a significant opportunity for the Council. 
 

It was moved by Councillor Nigel Welton and seconded by Councillor Paul 

Skinner:- 
 

Page 16



(1) To agree to enter into a Strategic Alliance for the purposes set out in Section 
[1.12] of this report, effective from 1

st
 July 2020, for the purposes and under the 

terms described in this report and set out more particularly in the draft 
Memorandum of Agreement attached to it.  

 
(2)     That the Strategic Alliance will be supported by a single merged workforce. This 

will be overseen and implemented by the Joint Chief Executive/Head of Paid 
Service. 

 
(3)  That the savings of £15.4m (BBC £5.1M, ELDC £10.3M) identified in the Financial 

Business Case are built into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 
(4) That Robert Barlow becomes Joint Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service of East 

Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council.  East Lindsey District 
Council shall formally employ Mr Barlow, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating 
the Strategic Alliance, be seconded to Boston Borough Council as Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service under Section 113 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Mr Barlow’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(5) That Michelle Sacks becomes Joint Monitoring Officer of East Lindsey District 

Council and Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council shall formally 
employ Ms Sacks, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the Strategic Alliance, 
be seconded to East Lindsey District Council as Monitoring Officer under Section 
113 of the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Ms Sack’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(6)  That Paul Julian becomes Joint S151 Officer of East Lindsey District Council and 

Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council shall formally employ Mr 
Julian, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the Strategic Alliance, be 
seconded to East Lindsey District Council as S151 Officer under Section 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Mr Julian’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(7) That Michelle Sacks be appointed as Returning Officer and Electoral Registration 

Officer for Boston Borough Council.  
 
(8) That the exit costs are charged to the reorganisation budget shown in the financial 

business case. The costs of the departing Statutory Officers shall be met by both 
authorities.  East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost. 
Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent.  These exit costs will be 
recovered quickly from savings achieved through the operation of the Strategic 
Alliance and as modelled in the Financial Business Plan. Consultation with both 
Officers should commence immediately to start redundancy proceedings. 

 

Page 17



(9) Immediately upon the inception of the Alliance Boston Borough Council shall 
establish a Boston Borough Council Management Scrutiny Committee comprised 
of the Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of each of the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny committees and the Leader and Deputy Leader of each political group. 
The Chairman of the Committee shall be appointed at the beginning of each 
meeting and shall not be the Leader or Deputy Leader of the majority group. The 
remit of the Committee shall be to shadow and scrutinise the evolution of the Joint 
officer corps under the Joint Chief Executive and the Joint Management Team 
and to make such reports as it see fit to the Alliance’s Joint Strategy Board and to 
Boston’s Borough Council’s full Council.  

 
(10) Boston Borough Council shall have the option to terminate the Alliance after 12 

months by giving 3 months’ written notice to East Lindsey District Council on 1
st
 

April 2021 (or 9 months after the date the Alliance becomes operative, whichever 
is the latter). For the avoidance of doubt: (a) if such notice is given the Alliance 
will terminate on 1

st
 July 2021 or 12 months after the Alliance comes into effect, 

whichever is the later; and, (b) after the Agreement has operated for a period of 
12 months, either party may terminate the Alliance in accordance with Clause 8 of 
the Memorandum of Agreement. 

 
 

An amendment was proposed by Councillor Peter Watson and seconded by 

Councillor Alison Austin:- 
 

To agree to begin a seven-month consultation period on forming a strategic 

alliance with East Lindsey District Council for the purposes set out in this report 

involving Members, staff, Scrutiny and all appropriate bodies and that there be no 

staff appointments until approved by full Council. 
 
Councillor Watson explained that his reasons for proposing the amendment were there 
was little change in the report from the Council meeting on 10th June; Scrutiny should 
take place before the strategic alliance process began, not afterwards, and the addition 
of the option to terminate the alliance would be ruinous for the Council because of all the 
upfront costs to be paid. There was no blueprint for the proposals or full details with 
respect to the predicted savings and redundancy costs, and the calculations given were 
inconclusive and unreliable.  
 
Councillor Watson stated that the local MP had also tried to obtain answers to address 
concerns about the costs of redundancies and had not been able to do so. There had 
been no union consultation. There were no details as to which workforce the 
redundancies would be made from. The Joint Chief Executive appointment would not be 
subject to a national recruitment campaign. Members wanted more time and felt they 
were being forced to vote on the proposal when there was still insufficient detail.  All 
Councillors should have been involved in the process. Councils had aligned in the past 
for financial reasons and some were now experiencing even larger financial shortfalls. 
 
During debate, several Members commented that they were not actively opposed to the 
idea of a strategic alliance with East Lindsey District Council or any other authority, but 
they were concerned that many of their questions remain unanswered. They felt had not 
been listened to, their concerns had not been understood and the two additional 
recommendations did not satisfy them.   
 

Page 18



Reiterating their concerns, Members remarked that the proposal was too hasty, 
inadequately transparent and contained insufficient information and detail.  There was 
no reason why the proposal had to go through so quickly when it was such a significant 
step and there had been 18 months of negotiations already that had not involved the 
majority of Members.  
 
Local people wanted to be consulted and had the right to be consulted as council tax 
payers.  Broadland and South Norfolk District Councils had formed an alliance after a 
careful process that took time and included proper consultation.  Staff also had concerns 
and had not been consulted and nor had the unions.  Consultation could have been 
carried out months previously. 
 
Sharing services could work well, but had not done so in all cases and forecasted 
savings were not always met.  Proposed redundancy costs were extremely high and the 
financial figures were not backed up.  It would be wrong to proceed with the alliance until 
both councils were satisfied.   
 
Previously, the Council had considered a comprehensive report on aligning with other 
Councils for their back office services, but Members had been advised by a previous 
chief executive that it was not as advantageous for the Council, as there would be a 
large financial outlay to begin with and the targets were high. It was felt this advice had 
proved to be the case.  
 
With respect to the appointment of East Lindsey’s Chief Executive to the Joint Chief 
Executive post, reference was made to the Council’s pay policy, which stated that any 
appointments to posts within Boston Borough Council were to be made on merit. This 
meant an open recruitment process in which several candidates were interviewed and 
the best person appointed. The policy had been approved by Full Council in March and 
the Council could not depart from it. 
 
Members had also conducted their own research and discussed the proposal with key 
people.  They had received no legal advice on the matter despite requests. An 
experienced chief executive had been consulted by some Members, who had agreed 
that the Joint Chief Executive position should be advertised and a recruitment process 
followed, that Members should be formally consulted and that the Council needed to be 
advised on the cost of redundancies.   
 
There was no detail to the proposed scrutiny arrangements and Members’ perception 
was that ELDC did not place importance on the scrutiny function.  Also, the proposed 
Management Scrutiny Committee could not carry out effective scrutiny if it involved 
group leaders. 
 
The report made no mention of devolution and unitary processes, which would be 
significant key issues in the near future. The Council needed to have an equal voice to 
others. The strategic alliance might be a solution, but the Council needed to have the 
right partner on the right terms. ELDC was spending significant amounts whereas 
Boston was economising. East Lindsey’s highway problems were highlighted yet there 
was no mention of the bypass needed by Boston. 
 
To provide clarification, Councillor Paul Skinner advised the meeting that both parties 
had developed the strategic alliance proposal together and legal advice had been 
prepared with the Council’s senior officers. 

Page 19



 
As the Deputy Monitoring Officer was unable to give legal advice on the proposal, 
Councillor Welton addressed the query about its legality and referred to the summary 
advice section, which confirmed that the proposal was sensible and lawful. The legal 
opinion did not benefit one council over the other; the advice was based on the same 
report that went to both councils and the solicitor and the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
deemed the process to be lawful. The Council’s Monitoring Officer could be consulted on 
this as the person responsible for the lawfulness of processes and procedures and 
would have raised any illegality immediately.  
 
Councillor Welton pointed out the additional recommendations were unique to Boston; 
therefore, ELDC did not have to change the report that they had voted on, but would 
hold an extraordinary Council meeting to amend the memorandum of understanding to 
reflect the changes. He added that a delay for seven months consultation would end the 
proposal; ELDC had confirmed in writing that there would be no further amendments and 
any delay would make the alliance null and void. ELDC had already made unique 
concessions. 
 
The Deputy Monitoring Officer confirmed that redundancy costs were not a matter for 
consideration of the strategic alliance proposal. 
 

The amendment was then put to the vote and the result was 14 for, 15 against; 

therefore, the amendment fell. 
 
Debate then returned to the original motion when the following comments were raised:- 
 

 It was queried whether it was it the right time to consider a proposal during a 
pandemic and that it would be appropriate to wait for the end of lockdown. 

 

 The officer code of conduct was key and there were significant differences 
between the codes for both Councils.   

 

 Timely consultation with staff had been stated as being “highly recommended “ 
 

 The position of the Joint Chief Executive was crucial and the post holder would 
only be accountable to his employer, which would be East Lindsey District 
Council. Boston Borough Council would have no control over his position and the 
extent of his powers was significant. 

 

 The district of East Lindsey had the third highest risk in terms of older people in 
the country, which represented a significant cost and there were concerns that the 
Council would not be able to meet the subsequent shortfall. 

 
It was pointed out that the memorandum of understanding did not contain additional 
paragraphs reflecting the two new recommendations.  In response, the Deputy 
Monitoring Officer advised that it was described in paragraph 1 of the draft and an email 
to the Council’s Leader from the Leader of East Lindsey Council had stated “depending 
on the outcome, East Lindsey would hold an extraordinary full Council meeting to 
approve the amendment to the memorandum of understanding”.  Therefore, it was 
believed that the memorandum of understanding would be amended. 
 

Page 20



Other Members expressed alternative views. It was considered that the two additional 
recommendations would make the proposal even more viable.  Any alliance involved a 
lot of negotiation and some initial disagreements, but many alliances had been 
successful. The process required vision, confidence and commitment. 
 
There were positives to be achieved. The Council would benefit from East Lindsey‘s 
experience in terms of tourism, particularly as Boston town centre footfall had declined 
well before the lockdown, and there could be concessions could be negotiated for 
tourists to Skegness to visit Boston. With respect to senior citizens, ELDC was the 
leader of district councils in the “Ageing Better” initiative. 
 
ELDC’s accounts were in the public to domain for anyone to inspect, in the same way as 
the Council’s. In terms of expenditure, ELDC was simply taking the initiative to spend 
available funds for the benefit of residents. 
 
There was no sound reason to speculate that redundancy costs would be significant. 
The financial model indicated that costs would be £247,000 in the first year, which would 
be offset by savings of £198,000. Therefore, even if the alliance was dissolved after 12 
months, the Council would have saved £198,000.  The Council’s own Audit and 
Governance Committee had confirmed that the Council needed to save £600,000 in 
order to balance the budget for 2021/22.  If the Council had joined Compass Point to 
provide back office services and outsourced its leisure services many years previously, it 
would have made significant savings year-on-year. 
 
All Members cared deeply about the town and its people, had an intense commitment to 
the Council and wished to make services more efficient and effective for residents. 
 
Some Members reiterated their concerns.  An alliance with East Lindsey and South 
Holland would be preferable. The Council had more in common with South Holland and 
it would establish a more stable relationship. The fact that East Lindsey had a private 
management company was also a concern.  The Council was there to serve the public 
and not make money. The ruling group would have the majority on the proposed 
management scrutiny committee. 
 
There was concern about the treatment of staff, described as the “backbone” of the 
Council.  As the Council’s staff were paid less than ELDC’s they would be more likely to 
be made redundant, as it would be the least expensive option.  The independent 
financial advice that had been obtained included the comment that the timetable was 
very tight in terms of job losses. Some of the posts to be lost included currently vacant 
posts, some of which were crucially important positions.   
 
It was also pointed out that if the Council terminated the alliance during the first 12 
months, it would no longer have a Chief Executive and therefore it would be beneficial 
for Boston’s Chief Executive to be retained for that period. 
 

An amendment was moved by Councillor Anne Dorrian and seconded by 

Counicllor Richard Austin:  

 

That words be added to recommendation 4 that “the Councils current Chief 

Executive should continue in post of Boston Borough Council for the first year of 

the strategic alliance to work alongside Robert Barlow during that time as Joint 

Page 21



Chief Executive” and also that a sentence be added that the proposal be “subject 

to independent legal advice being obtained for Boston Borough Council.” 
 

A procedural motion that the question be now put was moved by Councillor Tom 

Ashton and seconded by Councillor Jonathan Noble.  On being put to the vote the 

procedural motion was carried by 15 votes for ad 14 against.  

 

The amendment was then put to the vote, which resulted in 14 votes for the 

amendment and 15 against, therefore the amendment fell. 
 
Debate then returned to the substantive motion. The Leader commented that the 
proposal was a positive move that concerned the capacity of services and would end 
uncertainty for staff. Contact had been made with the union and this would continue 
immediately. 
 

The substantive motion was put to the vote and carried by 15 votes for and 14 

against.  It was:- 

 

RESOLVED 
 
That East Lindsey District Council having (a) agreed at a meeting of its full Council on 
10

th
 June 2020 to enter into a Strategic Alliance with Boston Borough Council and (b) 

further agreed to a variation of clause 8 of the Memorandum of Agreement in the terms 
of recommendation 10 of this report, the full Council of Boston Borough Council 
resolves:-  
 
(1) To agree to enter into a Strategic Alliance for the purposes set out in Section 

[1.12] of this report, effective from 1
st
 July 2020, for the purposes and under the 

terms described in this report and set out more particularly in the draft 
Memorandum of Agreement attached to it.  

 
(2) That the Strategic Alliance will be supported by a single merged workforce. This 

will be overseen and implemented by the Joint Chief Executive/Head of Paid 
Service. 

 
(3)  That the savings of £15.4m (BBC £5.1M, ELDC £10.3M) identified in the Financial 

Business Case are built into the Medium Term Financial Plan. 
 
(4) That Robert Barlow becomes Joint Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service of East 

Lindsey District Council and Boston Borough Council.  East Lindsey District 
Council shall formally employ Mr Barlow, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating 
the Strategic Alliance, be seconded to Boston Borough Council as Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service under Section 113 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Mr Barlow’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(5) That Michelle Sacks becomes Joint Monitoring Officer of East Lindsey District 

Council and Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council shall formally 
employ Ms Sacks, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the Strategic Alliance, 

Page 22



be seconded to East Lindsey District Council as Monitoring Officer under Section 
113 of the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Ms Sack’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(6)  That Paul Julian becomes Joint S151 Officer of East Lindsey District Council and 

Boston Borough Council.  Boston Borough Council shall formally employ Mr 
Julian, who shall, for the purpose of facilitating the Strategic Alliance, be 
seconded to East Lindsey District Council as S151 Officer under Section 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, effective from 1

st
 July 2020. 

 Thereafter, East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost of 
Mr Julian’s remuneration and Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent 
of the same. Consultation should commence immediately. 

 
(7) That Michelle Sacks be appointed as Returning Officer and Electoral Registration 

Officer for Boston Borough Council.  
 
(8) That the exit costs are charged to the reorganisation budget shown in the financial 

business case. The costs of the departing Statutory Officers shall be met by both 
authorities.  East Lindsey District Council will contribute 67 per cent of the cost. 
Boston Borough Council will contribute 33 per cent.  These exit costs will be 
recovered quickly from savings achieved through the operation of the Strategic 
Alliance and as modelled in the Financial Business Plan. Consultation with both 
Officers should commence immediately to start redundancy proceedings. 

 
(9) Immediately upon the inception of the Alliance Boston Borough Council shall 

establish a Boston Borough Council Management Scrutiny Committee comprised 
of the Chairmen and Vice Chairmen of each of the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny committees and the Leader and Deputy Leader of each political group. 
The Chairman of the Committee shall be appointed at the beginning of each 
meeting and shall not be the Leader or Deputy Leader of the majority group. The 
remit of the Committee shall be to shadow and scrutinise the evolution of the joint 
officer corps under the Joint Chief Executive and the Joint Management Team 
and to make such reports as it see fit to the Alliance’s Joint Strategy Board and to 
Boston’s Borough Council’s full Council.  

 
(10) Boston Borough Council shall have the option to terminate the Alliance after 12 

months by giving 3 months’ written notice to East Lindsey District Council on 1
st
 

April 2021 (or 9 months after the date the Alliance becomes operative, whichever 
is the latter). For the avoidance of doubt: (a) if such notice is given the Alliance 
will terminate on 1

st
 July 2021 or 12 months after the Alliance comes into effect, 

whichever is the later; and, (b) after the Agreement has operated for a period of 
12 months, either party may terminate the Alliance in accordance with Clause 8 of 
the Memorandum of Agreement. 

 
 

The meeting closed at 9.20 pm 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 

 
 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL. 

DATE: 10 AUGUST 2020 

SUBJECT: PAVEMENT LICENCES.  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR YVONNE STEVENS, PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES. 

REPORT AUTHOR: HEAD OF REGULATORY SERVICES.  

EXEMPT REPORT? NO. 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To consider delegating to Lincolnshire County Council the discharge of Boston 
Borough Council’s duties under Sections 1 – 9 of the Business and Planning Act 
2020, in respect of the issuing of pavement licenses.  
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That Lincolnshire County Council be delegated to discharge all of the Council’s 

functions relating to pavement licences contained in sections 1 to 9 of the 
Business and Planning Act 2020; and  

 
2. The Head of Service/Assistant Director responsible for Licensing within Boston 

Borough be authorised to: 
 

 make all decisions under sections 1 to 9 of the Act until the County Council 
formally accepts the delegation and is able to discharge the functions; and, 

 

 agree arrangements with the County Council regarding the administration 
of the delegation. 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Boston Borough Council does not have an existing process or allocated 
resources to administer pavement licences in the timely manner expected by 
Government. 

 
2. Lincolnshire County Council already deal with pavement licences, mainly 

under Part 7A of the Highways Act 1980, and it is therefore considered 
reasonable, justified and proportionate to delegate the County Council to 
process and determine pavement licences on behalf of the Council under the 
Business and Planning Act 2020. 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 1



 

2 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
To deliver the function directly – not considered efficient or effective. 
 
 

REPORT 
 
1.1 The Business and Planning Act 2020 received Royal Assent on 22 July 2020.  

The purpose of the Act is to support business recovery; including making it 
cheaper, easier and quicker for businesses to obtain pavement licences for the 
use of outdoor space during the summer and at other times. 

 
1.2 Sections 1 to 9 of the Act provide certain local authorities (district councils in two 

tier areas) the power to issue pavement licences.  Until 22 July 2020, the issue 
of pavement licences was only a function of the County Council and not Boston 
Borough Council.  Sections 1 – 9 of the Act only remain in force until 30 
September 2021.   

 
1.3 Pavement licences under the Act permit a licence holder to put removable 

furniture on part of a relevant highway adjacent to the premises for either or both 
of the following purposes: 

 
(a) use of the furniture by the licence holder to sell or serve food or drink 
supplied from, or in connection with relevant use of, the premises; 
(b) use of the furniture by other persons for the purpose of consuming food or 
drink supplied from, or in connection with relevant use of, the premises. 

 
1.4 Lincolnshire County Council has offered to discharge this function under the Act 

on behalf of district councils in Lincolnshire; at the point of publication, five other 
districts, including our Alliance partner, had indicated their intention to take up 
the offer.   

 
1.5 As licensing is a non-executive function, discharging the Council’s function 

requires formal delegation by Council and formal acceptance by Council at 
County. Lincolnshire County Council had arranged an extraordinary meeting of 
the Council on 3 August 2020 enabling it to accept such delegations, the 
outcome of that meeting will be reported to Council when it meets. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no additional financial implications for the Council to consider outside of 
existing financial plans.  In discharging the Council’s function under delegation, the 
County Council will determine any application fee payable in accordance with the Act.  
Application fees are capped by the Act at £100.   
 
The potential volume of applications in Boston is considered by officers to be low; 
consequently, application fees would be unlikely to cover the Council’s costs if it were 
to discharge the function directly. 
 
 

Page 26



 

3 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Business and Planning Act 2020 prescribes that functions relating to pavement 
licences are non-executive functions.  Under section 101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, a local authority may arrange for the discharge of any of their non-
executive functions by another local authority.   
 
As licensing is a non-executive function, Lincolnshire County Council must be 
delegated (and accept the delegation) by Council in order to discharge the Council’s 
pavement licensing function.  
   

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct implications to report. 
 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct implications to report. 
 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
No other implications have been identified at this juncture.   
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services 

 Chairman of Licensing Committee 

 CMT 

 Lincolnshire County Council 
 

APPENDICES 
 
None. 
 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Business and Planning Act 2020 – accessible at: 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/16/contents/enacted  
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 
This item has not been considered by another Council committee. 

 

Page 27

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2020/16/contents/enacted


 

4 

FINANCE PROFORMA 

 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROFORMA FOR EXECUTIVE APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 
(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 
 
FROM:  Tim Sampson 
 

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     

REPORT:  PAVEMENT LICENCES  

REPORT DATE: Council, 10 August 2020  
 
OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 
Revenue      
Spend  £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 
      
Government grants 
received 

     

Total Revenue 
Cost 

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

 
Funding required: £0  Considered by: T 

Sampson 
Date:30 
July 2020. 

Total capital cost 
 

£0    

Revenue cost 
 

£0   Enter Council or 
Cabinet here 

Council 

 
Financial Services Comments 
 
There are no financial implications associated with the proposed delegation, in my view. 
 
Risk 
 
Discharging the function in-house is not currently accounted for within the Council’s MTFS. 
 
Procurement 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 
 
This FP is valid for 3 months 

from FP date 
If this FP is no longer required please 

advise Finance 
If there are changes to the original report 
it may invalidate this document, it must 

be reviewed by Finance. 

   

 
 

Page 28



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 

DATE: 10 AUGUST 2020 

SUBJECT: ACCELERATED GRANT THROUGH THE TOWNS FUND 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: DEPUTY LEADER 

REPORT AUTHOR: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE (PLACE) 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 
 
To provide an update on the Towns Fund and the allocated accelerated grant funding of 
£750,000 delivered through the mechanism of the Towns Fund to support the delivery of 
capital projects in the financial year 2020/21, that meet the Towns Fund Intervention 
Framework and will have the greatest immediate impact to aid economic recovery. 
  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That full Council  - 
 
1. Notes the sum of £750,000 Accelerated Grant funding to support capital projects 

that respond to immediate challenges and support the economic recovery of Boston, 
and its inclusion in the 2020/21 Capital Programme.  

 
2. Authorises the Deputy Chief Executive (Place) to confirm in writing to Ministry of 

Housing, Communities & Local Government by 14th August 2020 of the project 
proposals and that they are in line with the Towns Fund intervention framework as 
set out in the Towns Fund further guidance. 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The projects selected to benefit from this funding are connected to the emerging Boston 
Town Deal Investment Plan.  These projects are considered to enable our town to restore 
pride and confidence and build better, stronger local economies for the long term.  
 
The award of this grant funding has provided the Council with an opportunity to work with 
key partners to accelerate projects that will influence and support the recovery which has 
not been able to progress as quickly as hoped for due to the covid-19 pandemic. 
 
These projects stimulate economic participation, job creation and investment opportunities, 
nurtures and influences economic well-being across the whole Borough.  
 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 2



2 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Not providing confirmation to the MHCLG by the deadline of 14 August 2020, would 
jeopardise the opportunity to create sustainable growth to enable the Council to build a 
stronger and more resilient economy, and potentially affect the prospects of being included 
in allocations for further funding rounds. 
 
 

REPORT 
 

1. Background 

1.1 On 30th June 2020 the Prime Minister gave a speech and laid out plans for a “New 
Deal’ to support Britain’s recovery putting jobs, skills and infrastructure investment at 
the heart of a post Covid19 economic growth strategy, and as part of this announced 
financial support for various sectors, including those capital investment projects, 
schemes or programmes that will influence and contribute to the ‘levelling up’ 
agenda.  

1.2 Included in that speech was the announcement of £5bn accelerated grant funding 
delivered through the mechanism of the Towns Fund to help expedite projects that 
will have the greatest immediate impact to aid the economic recovery on towns like 
Boston.  

1.3 On the 1st July 2020 the Chief Executive received notification in writing that Boston 
Borough Council, through the Towns Fund, had been selected to receive £750,000 
in accelerated grant funding to support capital projects that will drive jobs growth, 
create further investment and the ability to look to build a stronger and more resilient 
economy for all our communities. 

1.4 The letter from Jenny Dibden, Co-Director Cities & Local Growth Unit at Ministry of 
Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) sets out how the grant 
allocation is calculated, potential project interventions and the requirement to 
respond by the 14th August 2020 to MHCLG with project proposals. 

1.5 The letter also reiterates the government’s agenda to ‘level up’ and that the 
government recognises the Towns Fund is one vehicle that clearly supports local 
areas to realise and nurture their own ambitions to level up.  

1.6 The government’s favoured approach to allocating grant funding to areas is by 
population size data extracted from the 2011 Census, using the Office for National 
Statistics’ categorisation of small, medium and large towns. Using this methodology, 
the grant allocation for Boston Borough Council is £750,000 to fund capital projects, 
which can be delivered this financial year 2020/21.  

1.7 The MHCLG are particularly keen to see, in collaboration with the Town Deal Board, 
capital projects that respond to immediate challenges and support the economic 
recovery including the repurposing of empty commercial buildings, open space 
infrastructure - parks and green space, improvements to the town centre and where 
an immediate benefit can be achieved - demolition or site remediation. 

1.8 The MHCLG has issued a Frequently Asked Questions paper to provide further 
clarity and definition on the types of interventions, expectations and outcomes.  The 
FAQs are attached for information at Appendix 1.  

Page 30



3 
 

1.9 The Town Deal Board is the vehicle through which the vision and strategy for the 
town is defined. The board, through a well-evidenced based Town Investment Plan 
(TIP), will set out a clear programme of projects, collaborating with partners and 
other public sector bodies to ensure a holistic approach to deliver sustainable long 
term economic and productivity growth. 

1.10 There is also an expectation from MHCLG that the Council will consult and engage 
fully with the Board of the Boston Town Deal when identifying projects, and on 7 July 
the Boston Town Deal Board were advised of the accelerated grant and encouraged 
to suggest potential interventions which related to the emerging investment plan. 

  
 
2. Potential Project Interventions 
 
2.1 Consideration should be given to those projects that can facilitate and deliver 

sustained growth and return the maximum economic Benefit to Cost Ratio (BCR) for 
all of our communities in the shortest amount of time.  

 
2.2 Again, any project should be in a position to move quickly as funding is only 

available for this financial year 2020/21. It is also becoming clear that government 
will be looking more closely at funding projects that will deliver economic returns in 
the shortest amount of time. 

 
2.3 The Town Board has been advised of the Accelerated Funding opportunity and how 

this can link to the emerging themes of the Boston Town Deal.  
 
2.4 Listed below are potential project interventions which meet the criteria set out by the 

MHCLG:- 
 

(i) Haven High Academy – 3G Pitch Development Project - £120,000 

Haven High Academy is applying to the Football Foundation for funding towards a 
full size floodlit 3G Football Turf Pitch on the site in Marian Road, Boston. Alongside 
this, the school needs to identify additional capital funding to ensure the project is 
viable.  

 
The school is an 11-16 secondary school with academy status and is the only 
secondary school within the eight schools of the Boston Witham Academies 
Federation. Haven High Academy currently has 1172 pupils on roll. The Federation 
prides itself on working in partnership to enhance the life experiences and chances 
of all the children and young people who come through their doors. 

 
The academy is looking to develop their facilities, not only to support their students, 
but to provide opportunities for the local community groups to continue to access 
high quality facilities on their site. The new 3G artificial pitch will complement the 
existing facilities on site and promote the academy as the hub of the local 
community. Haven High has already shown they can manage and maintain facilities 
to a high standard and have a clear approach to being a hub for the local area. 

 

During early consultation on the #MyTown campaign as part of the Boston Town 
Deal, there was a significant amount of public support for increased sports facilities 

Page 31



4 
 

in the Town, specifically 3G and 4G pitches. Boston has one of the lowest provisions 
in the county. 

 
The cost for a full size flood 3G pitch is in the region of £750,000 (including 
professional fees and contingency).  The school will be using part of their capital 
reserves towards the project, but will also be seeking other funding to contribute to 
the partnership funding required. The school hope to apply to the Football 
Foundation for a large contribution towards the cost of the pitch, but need to explore 
all other funding opportunities. 

 
Haven High Academy are seeking £120,000 contribution. 

 

(ii) Boston College Digital, Transport and Logistics Academy – 

£182,976 

The Academy is due for completion for November 2020, Boston College's Digital, 
Transport and Logistics Academy (the DTLA) is proposed to introduce new courses 
that will provide skills training for Lincolnshire's established logistics and 
transportation industry with a focus on digital innovation and technologies for the 
future.  
 
The DTLA’s facilities will include a transport workshop, computer rooms, a network 
and hardware computer room and a student break-out space. This will continue to 
build upon the success of the Engineering, Manufacturing and Technology centre 
(EMAT). 

 
The logistics and transport industry provide approximately 40,000 jobs in the South 
East of Lincolnshire and is a key area of focus, together with the Port of Boston, in 
the emerging Boston Town Investment Plan.  
 
As part of the work of the Town Deal Board, there is ongoing consultation with the 
logistics industry and the Port of Boston. This valuable engagement includes working 
with employers to map the current and future provision to meet skills needs, both 
locally and nationally, to ensure that the facilities implemented and courses delivered 
are relevant to the employment opportunities available and enable industries to 
continue to grow and develop. 

 
As a result of this engagement, Boston College has identified the essential 
equipment required and this will accelerate the support for skills and employment not 
just for our young people but also adult learners, many who may need to retrain as a 
consequence of the impact of Covid19 on the employment market. 
The acquisition of the equipment and services would enable the full completion of 
the DTLA. The DTLA project is GLLEP funded and destined to support the skills 
acquisition within the key sector of ports and logistics. 

 
 (iii)  Boston Town Heritage Projects - £277,700 

 
The Boston Townscape Heritage Project will significantly enhance the eastern area 
of the town’s historic market place for the benefit of local businesses, the local 
community and visitors to the town.  
 

Page 32



5 
 

Boston’s rich and unique historic environment, dating from the medieval period to the 
20th century, will be explored, celebrated and conserved through a scheme of capital 
works and an innovative activity programme.  
 
The project has been developed through a partnership between Boston Borough 
Council and Heritage Lincolnshire which aims to build upon the momentum gained 
from recent heritage led regeneration initiatives in the town through a previous 
Historic England supported Partnership Scheme in Conservation Areas and will also 
work collaboratively with other local partners on activities relating to the Hanse 
League membership and Mayflower 2020. 

 
The project to date has successfully bid for match funding to the Heritage Lottery 
Fund and Lincolnshire County Council and is now putting forward a bid for match 
funding to the Accelerator Fund as part of the Boston Town Deal, to enable the 
capital elements of the project to be realised in full.   
 
The scheme area includes the eastern boundary of the market place, Dolphin Lane 
and Pump Square and individual buildings eligible for grant funding have been 
identified.  Work already undertaken on the project by Heritage Lincolnshire and the 
Borough Council with local businesses, has resulted in the first three buildings within 
it, at a point that they ready to be renovated, subject to funding, and be completed by 
the end of this financial year (2020/21).   
 
Lincolnshire County Council is also in the process of developing its highway 
development project for the Lane to also be delivered this financial year 

 
Detailed below are the three individual projects the bid to the Accelerator Fund could 
support totalling £272,250 and the bid also includes an amount for promotional 
materials and activity in support of the project totalling £5,450.    

 

 16 Market Place – Has been granted listed building consent and planning 
permission. It has been out to tender and is currently awaiting a final tender 
return.  

 17 Market Place – Planning permissions have been granted, the tender process 
is also complete and the project is currently awaiting a grant offer so works can 
proceed on site. 

 8 Dolphin Lane – Planning permissions have been granted and it is currently out 
to tender. Publicity and Promotion for all of the above to include the Accelerator 
Fund and the Boston Town Deal within the wider project funding partnership.  

 
This project is seeking £277,700.  

 
(iv) Experience Boston: Travel, Trade and Influence - £80,000 

With the wealth of assets as a quintessential and visually stunning  Historic Market 
Town and Port Boston is uniquely poised to build on increased local, regional, 
national and international profile as a quality historic and cultural visitor destination, 
bringing all the wider benefits to local and visitor economies as well as driving 
increased opportunities for investment.   

 
The project will enhance our cultural infrastructure to engage and share more 
effectively these stories as well as Boston’s historic trade and maritime associations, 

Page 33



6 
 

and the influence the town has had locally and internationally. Critically it will also 
orientate users to the wider retail offer of the town and give opportunity for fuller 
engagement with its businesses. 

 
The project will develop physical interpretation and heritage resources that are 
focussed on the historic environment of the town and its culture. It will also 
importantly build on reinforcing the placebrand of the town and orientating people 
through mapping solutions to the cultural and retail opportunities the town has to 
offer.  
 
This also having the effect of continuing momentum in the investment and delivery of 
initiatives in the town which has seen a consistently upward trajectory of 
improvement and enhancement making it a more compelling destination to consider 
making a home and place to work and invest. ‘Experience Boston’ will provide long 
term benefit within the public realm.  

 
There is significant opportunity to add to current public realm improvements within 
Boston, helping inform locals and visitors alike to Boston's rich Heritage. This builds 
on the placebrand, wayfinding and design toolkit developed in the successful HLF 
project 'Boston: Explore and Discover'. That project was the catalyst for a number of 
continuing improvements in both the public realm and the visual identity of the town. 
The project, through its physical legacy will continue to enhance the offer of the town 
both as a heritage destination and also as a place to live and work in.   

 
The successful 'Boston: Explore and Discover' project acted as a catalyst for 
continued improvement and the council has invested in the town and the public 
realm as well as embedding the placebrand throughout the town. The town is now 
ready for a second phase of investment to expand the interpretative schemes and 
maximise engagement with the town’s heritage and local and visitor economies.  

 
This project is seeking £80,000 

  

 (v) PE21 Feasibility Funding - £50K 

Boston Borough Council commissioned AR Urbanism to undertake a master 
planning excise on a 10-acre under-utilised town centre location to maximise the 
economic potential working closely with both the public and private sectors. This 
catalyst place-led regeneration scheme looks to influence real economic benefits, 
health & well-being and social value opportunities for generations to come.  

 
There are specific sector opportunities identified within the PE21 masterplan that can 
harness more value added services include a new Well-being and Leisure facility, 
Transport Hub, hotel, work and learning provision as well as residential and extra 
care facilities.  

 
However, to test and underpin the interventions, recommendations and the viability 
of the PE21 Master plan and more recently market demand post Covid-19, a 
feasibility study needs commissioning to fully understand the sustainable and 
economic potential  the PE21 vision can deliver. 

 

Page 34



7 
 

The report will consider current and projected future uses and market demands, 
which will ensure a more robust assessment on uses, values and deliverability to 
enable a better and clearer policy on approach and opportunity. 

 
(vi) The Sanctuary, Restore Church  - £200,000 

 
Restore Church is passionate about relationships and about the organisations and 
individuals that it connects with; as a consequence, the Church has a driving 
ambition to bring forward an exemplar project, The Sanctuary.   

 
The Sanctuary will be an inclusive community hub that will have a focus on 
supporting homeless and vulnerable people in the broadest sense; it will provide a 
range of services and opportunities that support people into accommodation, into 
training, into education and into work.   

 
The Sanctuary project has identified a suitable premise for sale on the open market 
within the ‘PE21’ area and has begun discussion with the agent.  As a project, it 
seeks to provide: 
 

 Self-contained accommodation with support. 

 Emergency access accommodation to support the most vulnerable within our 
community. 

 A Community Café, that offers training and volunteering opportunities as well as 
a revenue source to support the wider project. 

 A Community Supermarket, that like the café, will offer training, skills 
development and practical opportunities to the community, residents of the 
accommodation, as well as providing food schemes to help individuals and 
families in need. 

 Multi-agency space where support, training, advice and advocacy can be 
delivered. 

 Adaptive and inclusive spaces that can be used by small social enterprise and 
clubs. 

 The total cost of the project has been assessed at just under £1.5 million 
(including contingency).     

 
Of the total projected costs, we are seeking £200,000 from the Towns Fund towards 
the purchase cost of the identified premise; the purchase cost is £650,000. 

 
The remaining purchase costs will be funded by social investment from a provider 
with whom the Church have a strong existing relationship and through whose 
investment they have already purchased a number of supported housing units within 
the locality.    

 
In partnership with Restore, the Council is leading a bid to MHCLG under its ‘Next 
Steps Accommodation Programme’ (NSAP), to support conversion of the asset to 
provide both long term and emergency accommodation.   
 
Discussions with MHCLG are at an advanced stage with final bid submission due on 
20 August 2020, with a fast turnaround expected.  Conversion costs not eligible 
under NSAP will be funded by social investment and ensure that The Sanctuary can 
become the inclusive community hub its business case intends it to be.   

 

Page 35



8 
 

CONCLUSION 
 
The opportunity to access this grant fund gives the Council the immediate ability to address 
and respond to the economic inequalities, start to drive economic growth that underpins the 
prosperity, aspirations and quality of life for our residents and businesses. Also by working 
closely with the Town Deal Board, start to stimulate inter-related projects that will create an 
environment where Boston becomes a regional destination for living, working, investing and 
visiting. 
 
The projects that have been selected are seeking to maximise the impact this funding 
stream can have on the greatest number of residents within the Borough. These include an 
emphasis on skills and education, the quality of the town centre offer through enhancing the 
heritage offer, the promotion of Boston as a place to visit, the support of some of our most 
vulnerable residents and the delivery of a 3G football pitch to improve the quality of the 
health of the Borough. 

 
This can only happen if both Council agree the identified projects align to or have a 
relationship with the emerging TIP with written conformation to MHCLG by 14th August 
2020 outlining these potential projects in agreement with the council’s S151 officer that any 
spend drawn down from the accelerated grant represents good value for money, can be 
delivered this financial year and is in line with the Towns Fund intervention framework as 
set out in the Towns Fund further guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towns-fund-further-guidance 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The £750,000 Accelerated Grant award will enable 100% funding to support early 
deliverable projects within the Towns Fund remit.  Should the projects submitted to 
MHCLG be approved progress will be reported through the Towns Fund Board and the 
Council’s quarterly performance reporting mechanisms. 
 
No further financial support from the Council is anticipated at this stage.  
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct legal or equality implications arising from this report. The Accelerated 
Fund provides the Council to act as the accountable body for funding which must be spent 
by 31st March 2021. 
 
Any conditions of funding that are imposed on the Council, will form part of the conditions 
of spend on those whom we are working in partnership together with any performance 
outcomes that may be required. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None arising directly from this report. 
 

Page 36

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/towns-fund-further-guidance


9 
 

 
 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
None. 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
The report will be considered by the Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC) at its meeting 
on 5 August 2020.  A verbal update on comments from BTAC will be provided at the 
meeting of Full Council. 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A Towns Fund Further Guidance – FAQs 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the production of this report. 
   

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Name of body Date 
 

Boston Town Area Committee 5 August 2020  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is blank 

Page 38



011Page 39



012Page 40



013Page 41



014Page 42



015Page 43



016Page 44


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	Minutes for 25 June 2020

	1 PAVEMENT LICENSING
	2 ACCELERATED GRANT FUND THROUGH THE TOWNS FUND
	Appendix A


